RECEIVED

12-15-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2013-AP-1753CR & 2013-AP-1754CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

ROGELIO GUARNERO,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING JUDGMENTS AND ORDERS OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY DUGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ROBERT J. EDDINGTON State Bar No. 1078868

250 E. Wisconsin Avenue #1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-347-5639 rje@eddingtonlawoffice.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals disregard the language of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) as well as its own prior decisions by adopting U.S. Supreme Court caselaw to look beyond the statutory elements of Guarnero's prior racketeering conspiracy conviction and conclude that his prior conviction was a second or subsequent offense?

Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals considered the elements of Guarnero's federal racketeering conspiracy conviction, but instead looked to other record materials to conclude that his prior conviction could support a second or subsequent offense under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c).

II. Did the Court of Appeals err in adopting the so-called "modified categorical approach" to permit Guarnero's racketeering conspiracy conviction to count as a prior offense for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) in the absence of any statutory element requiring a nexus to drugs or any record evidence that Guarnero himself committed any prior narcotics violation, and which decision will likely have a confusing effect on lower courts throughout this state?

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals held that a federal racketeering conspiracy conviction can support a second or subsequent offense under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). The Court of Appeals expressly adopted the "modified categorical approach."

III. Did the Court of Appeals contravene the Rule of Lenity and notions of Due Process by ruling as a

matter of first impression that Guarnero's racketeering conspiracy conviction could support a second or subsequent offense conviction under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c)?

The trial court did not address this argument. The Court of Appeals rejected Guarnero's Rule of Lenity and Due Process arguments.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues raised by this appeal involve significant questions of law that appear to be issues of first impression in Wisconsin. This Court's resolution of these issues will establish important precedent statewide. Publication and oral argument are therefore appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

A. Trial Court Proceedings

Background

Rogelio Guarnero was convicted following a bench trial in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court of possession of cocaine as a second or subsequent offense under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (R.24, App. 118²). Guarnero was also

¹ The Court of Appeals ordered that the appeals in 2013-AP-1753CR and 2013-AP-1754CR be consolidated (R.30). Because most of the relevant material is found in the record of *both* cases, for the convenience of the Court, references herein to the record ("R.") relate to the record in case 2013-AP-1753. However, any references specifically to the record in case 2013-AP-1754 are designated as "**R-1754**".

convicted by the same court of felony bail jumping under Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b). (R-1754.18, App. 120). The "second or subsequent offense" charge was based on Guarnero's prior conviction in federal court for racketeering conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)—part of the Racketeer Influenced And Corrupt Organizations Act (herein "RICO"). (R.2)

Guarnero's Federal Racketeering Conspiracy Conviction

In 2005, Guarnero was named as one of 49 defendants in a multi-count indictment in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, alleging numerous violations of federal criminal law. (R.27, Ex. C; App. 135). Count Two of the federal indictment (the only count of which Guarnero was convicted) alleged that multiple defendants "knowingly and intentionally conspired to...conduct and participate...in the conduct of the affairs of [the Latin Kings] through a pattern of racketeering activity involving multiple acts" indictable and/or chargeable under various state and federal statutes prohibiting kidnapping, tampering with a witness, retaliation against a witness, homicide, controlled substances, attempt, conspiracy, robbery, and arson. (R.27, Ex. C, ¶ 17; App. 139). This count did not specify which defendant allegedly committed which acts. Count Two nowhere alleged that Guarnero himself had committed any violation of any controlled substance law. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 14-18, App. 137-39).

Guarnero ultimately pled guilty to the single count of racketeering conspiracy contained in Count Two. (R.27, Ex. D \P 4, App. 146). In a 19-page agreement, the parties outlined the factual basis for the plea. (*Id.*, \P 5, App. 146-48).

² All references to the Appendix to this brief are designated herein as "App."

In the plea agreement, Guarnero acknowledged "that he conspired with other Latin King gang members to commit at least two qualifying criminal acts in furtherance of the criminal enterprise." (*Id.*) But, the agreement contained no indication or admission regarding *which* acts Guarnero purportedly committed. More importantly, there is there no admission in the plea agreement that the defendant himself committed *any* violation of *any* narcotics statute whatsoever. (*Id.*)

In fact, the overwhelming majority of the acts detailed in the plea agreement concerning Guarnero pertain to activities unrelated to narcotics. For example, the parties acknowledge that Guarnero had been identified as being at a tavern prior to a shooting; that he was found in possession of a short barrel shotgun during a firearms search; that he was found in a closet which contained the sawed off shotgun; and that Latin King street gang documents were found within his residence. (*Id.* at 147-48).

The only mention of narcotics in the narrative relating to Guarnero is a single sentence that reads: "[a]lso found within the residence was a package containing four clear plastic sandwich bags containing about an ounce of marijuana each, with a total marijuana weight of an excess of 100 grams." (Id. at 147) (emphasis added). There is no mention in the plea agreement or elsewhere in the record that the bags were found on or near Guarnero's person, that they belonged to Guarnero, or that he had any knowledge that they were in his residence. (Id.)

As part of the plea agreement, the three firearms counts and the single count of possession of marijuana were dismissed. (Id., ¶ 8, App. 148). The district court convicted

Guarnero of the single racketeering conspiracy charge. (R.27, Ex. E; App. 165).

Guarnero's Convictions In This Case

On August 13, 2012, Guarnero was charged with one count of possession of cocaine as a second or subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (R.2). The State charged this offense as a "second or subsequent offense" based on Guarnero's prior RICO conspiracy conviction. (*Id.* at R.2:3). The State also charged Guarnero in this same case with one count of concealing stolen property. (*Id.*) While this first case was pending, Guarnero was charged in another case with one count of felony bail jumping under Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b) and one count of receiving stolen property under Wis. Stat. § 943.34(1)(a). (R-1754.2).

Guarnero filed a motion to dismiss in the trial court, arguing, *inter alia*, that the prior racketeering conspiracy conviction was insufficient to support a second or subsequent offense under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (R.7). Guarnero further argued that because the possession offense should at most be a misdemeanor first offense, the bail jumping charge should have been charged, if at all, as a misdemeanor, rather than as a felony. (*Id.*)

The trial court denied the motion to dismiss, reasoning that although the racketeering statute could encompass non-drug activity, the second or subsequent charge was appropriate in the present case because drug activity "may underpin a RICO indictment." (R.37:13, App. 130). The trial court further reasoned that a prior RICO conviction can give rise to a second or subsequent offense under Wis. Stat.

§ 961.41(3g)(c) if "[t]he underlying charges for the RICO ...include some controlled substances." (*Id*.)

On November 20, 2012, Guarnero filed a petition in the Court of Appeals for leave to appeal the trial court's non-final order denying the motion to dismiss, which the Court of Appeals denied. (R.12, R.16). Ultimately, Guarnero agreed to a bench trial on stipulated facts with respect to the possession charge. (R.18-19). The trial court found Guarnero guilty and dismissed the count of concealing stolen property on the State's motion. (R.24, App. 118, R.40:17). On January 25, 2013, Guarnero pled guilty to the bail jumping charge, and the court dismissed the charge of Receiving Stolen Property on the State's motion. (R-1754.18, App. 120, R.42:4).

On July 17, 2013, Guarnero filed a timely postconviction motion, arguing that the prior racketeering conspiracy conviction was insufficient to support a "second or subsequent offense" charge under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (R.27, R-1754.21). Additionally, Guarnero argued that Due Process and the Rule of Lenity precluded the application of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) against him. Finally, because the possession charge should have been at most a misdemeanor first offense, Guarnero again argued that he was improperly charged with and convicted of felony bail jumping. (*Id.*)

The trial court denied the postconviction motion without a hearing, explaining that "[a] RICO conviction can deal with drug-related activity or not be related to drugs or drug activity..." (R.28:2, App. 124). The trial court did not address Guarnero's arguments relating to Due Process or the Rule Of Lenity. Having concluded that the racketeering conspiracy conviction supported a "second or subsequent

offense," the trial court did not address felony bail jumping charge.

B. Appellate Proceedings

Guarnero filed a timely Notice of Appeal in each case from the judgments of conviction and the orders denying postconviction relief (R.31, R-1754.25). The Court of Appeals consolidated both cases upon Guarnero's motion. (R.30, R-1754.24).

Guarnero again argued on appeal that the prior racketeering conspiracy conviction did not arise under a statute relating to controlled substances and therefore could not support a second or subsequent offense under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). Similarly, because the possession charge could at most have been a first offense, Guarnero argued again that his bail jumping charge should also have been at most a misdemeanor, rather than a felony. Guarnero invoked the Rule of Lenity, and further argued that Due Process precluded the trial court's application of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) because neither the statute nor any prior judicial decision suggested that a racketeering conspiracy conviction could give rise to a second or subsequent offense for purposes of § 961.41(3g)(c).

Following briefing, the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* issued an order on April 3, 2014 requiring that the parties file letter briefs addressing "the impact" on these appeals of two recent U.S. Supreme Court Decisions—*United States v. Castleman*, 134 S. Ct. 1405 (2014) and *Descamps v. United States*, 133 S. Ct. 2276 (2013). (App. 117). As described in more detail below, *Castleman* and *Descamps* address the extent to which—if at all—a court may look beyond the statutory elements of a prior conviction under a so-called "modified categorical approach" to determine whether to

apply enhanced penalties under federal law. The parties simultaneously filed the requested letter briefs on April 17, 2014.

In a decision dated April 29, 2014, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in all respects, holding that Guarnero's prior racketeering conspiracy conviction satisfied Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (App. 115-16, ¶ 14). The Court of Appeals concluded that although the RICO conspiracy statute did not specifically "reference[] controlled substances in haec verba" (App. 111 ¶ 8), it could nonetheless support a second or subsequent offense.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals found that *Castleman* and *Descamps* were "dispositive" (App. 111, \P 8), concluded that "there are many, many ways that a person may violate" RICO, and therefore considered "the indictment to which Guarnero pled guilty as well as his plea-bargained acknowledgment that he was 'in fact, guilty of the offense' set out in…the indictment." (App. 114-15, \P 12). The Court of Appeals rejected Guarnero's invocation of the Rule of Lenity and Due Process. (App. 115, \P 13).

Because the Court of Appeals concluded that Guarnero had been properly convicted of felony possession of cocaine as a "second or subsequent offense," it affirmed Guarnero's felony bail jumping conviction under Wis. Stat. 946.49(1)(b). (App. 115-16, ¶ 14).

The Court of Appeals ordered its decision to be published. Guarnero filed a timely petition for review of the Court of Appeal's decision, which this Court granted on November 14, 2014. (App. 102).

ARGUMENT

I. This Court Should Reverse The Court Of Appeals Because The Statutory Elements Of A RICO Conspiracy Conviction—Which The Court Of Appeals Failed To Analyze—Show That The RICO Conspiracy Statue Does Not Relate To Controlled Substances.

A. Standard Of Review

Resolution of this appeal involves the construction of a statute and its application to a set of facts, which is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo* without deference to the lower courts. *State v. Curiel*, 227 Wis. 2d 389, 404, 597 N.W.2d 697 (1999); *State v. Vanmanivong*, 2003 WI 41, ¶ 16, 261 Wis. 2d 202, 661 N.W.2d 76.

B. Courts May Only Consider The Statutory Elements Of A Prior Conviction When Considering A Second Or Subsequent Offense Under § 961.41(3g)(c).

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that a conviction under the RICO conspiracy statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), arose under a statute "relating to" controlled substances for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (App. 114-15, ¶ 12). While the lower court *quoted* from the RICO statute, it failed to examine the statutory *elements* for RICO conspiracy, adopting instead an approach that allowed it to consider the underlying charges of the indictment as well as the terms of his plea bargain. (*Id.*).

Yet, it is settled that "when a defendant pleads guilty to a crime, he waives his right to a jury determination of *only that offense's elements*; whatever he says, or fails to say,

about superfluous facts cannot license a later sentencing court to impose extra punishment." *Descamps*, 133 S. Ct. at 2288. (emphasis added). The only permissible focus of a court is on the statutory *elements* of the statute of prior conviction, because it is those elements that define the prior conviction.

Had the Court of Appeals analyzed those elements in this case, it would have properly concluded that RICO conspiracy does not relate to controlled substances.

> 1. The RICO Conspiracy Statute Does Not Relate To Controlled Substances Because Narcotics Is Not a Necessary **Element** Of A Racketeering Conspiracy Conviction. And Conviction Under Section 1962(d) **Establishes** Nothing Relating To **Controlled Substances.**

Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) provides in pertinent part (emphases added):

For purposes of this paragraph, an offense is considered a 2nd or subsequent offense if, prior to the offenders conviction of the offense, the offender has at any time been convicted of any felony or misdemeanor under this chapter or under any *statute* of the United States or of any state *relating to controlled substances*...

As the text of the statute makes plain, the only relevant inquiry for determining penalty enhancement under § 961.41(3g)(c) is whether the "statute" of prior conviction "relates to" controlled substances. Guarnero's racketeering conspiracy conviction does not qualify as a predicate unless the statute under which he was previously convicted "relates to" controlled substances.

Simply stated, it does not, for "nothing about the fact of [Guarnero's] conviction demonstrates violation of a law related to a controlled substance." *Lara-Chacon v. Ashcroft*, 345 F.3d 1148, 1155 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding that a conviction under an Arizona racketeering statute does *not* arise under a statute "relating to" controlled substances).

Guarnero pled guilty to conspiracy to commit racketeering under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) (R.27, Ex. E, App. 165). This statute is part of the sweeping Racketeer Influenced And Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), which Congress itself described as an Act "[r]elating to the control of *organized crime* in the United States." Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, Pub. L. 91-452, 84 Stat. 922 (emphasis added).

The U.S. Supreme Court has also long held that "the major purpose of [RICO] is to address the infiltration of legitimate business by organized crime." *United States v. Turkette*, 452 U.S. 576, 591 (1981). *See also Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Irmex Co.*, 473 U.S. 479, 481 (1985) (RICO "takes aim at 'racketeering activity"); *SK Hand Tool Corp. v. Dressler Industries, Inc.*, 852 F.2d 936, 941 (7th Cir. 1988), *cert. den.*, 492 U.S. 918 (1989) ("the primary purpose of RICO is to reach those who ultimately profit from racketeering") (internal quotation omitted).

Although the Court of Appeals failed to analyze the elements of RICO conspiracy, those elements are straightforward. To sustain a conviction under § 1962(d), the government must prove:

1. That the defendant knowingly conspired to conduct or participate in the conduct of the affairs of [a given organization], an enterprise, through a pattern of racketeering activity...;

- 2. That [the organization in question was] an enterprise,
- 3. That the activities of [the defendant] would affect interstate commerce.

Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions Of The Seventh Circuit. (R.27, Ex. D at ¶ 9, App. 149; R.27, Ex. F, App. 173)³. *See also United States v. Tello*, 687 F.3d 785, 794-95 (7th Cir. 2012).

The Court of Appeals' failure to discuss the elements of racketeering conspiracy is fatal to its analysis and requires reversal, for strikingly absent from these elements is *any* requirement that a controlled substance be committed *by anyone*—let alone the Guarnero.

In the very case in which Guarnero entered his plea, the Seventh Circuit explained:

In order to establish [the defendant's] guilt on Count Two, it was not necessary to show that he actually conducted the affairs of the Latin Kings, or participated in the conduct of those affairs, through a pattern of racketeering activity comprising at least two predicate acts of racketeering....[Section 1962(d)] punishes the *agreement* to commit such an offense....A section 1962(d) conspiracy charge thus does not require proof that the defendant committed two predicate acts of racketeering,...that he agreed to commit two predicate acts, ...or, for that matter, that any such acts were ultimately committed by anyone.

Tello, 687 F.3d at 792 (emphasis added, internal citations omitted). See also Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 63

³ These were the very elements that the government and Guarnero agreed must be proven in his prior case. (R.27, Ex. D, \P 9, App. 149).

(1997) (no requirement that a RICO conspiracy defendant commit a specific act); *United States v. Yannotti*, 541 F.3d 112, 121 (2d Cir. 2008) ("the government need not prove that the defendant himself agreed that he would commit two or more predicate acts").

Nor is RICO a drug statute. Indeed, "[t]he two groups of offenses are set in distinct chapters of the United States Code and are intended to deter two different kinds of activity: racketeering on the one hand and narcotics violations on the other." *United States v. Boldin*, 772 F.2d 719, 729 (11th Cir. 1985), *citing United States v. Thomas*, 757 F.2d 1359 (2d Cir. 1985) (internal punctuation omitted). Thus, Guarnero's liability for racketeering conspiracy was completely unrelated to whether he—or anyone else—committed *any* narcotics violations at all. *Salinas*, 522 U.S. at 63; *Tello*, 687 F.3d at 792; *Yannotti*, 541 F.3d at 121.

Although the Court of Appeals acknowledged below that Congress' definition of "pattern of racketeering activity" is broad enough to encompass both drug and non-drug activity (App. 108-11, ¶¶ 7-8), the Court of Appeals failed to analyze the *elements* of the statute of prior conviction. Had it done so, it would have necessarily concluded that narcotics is simply *not* a statutory element of federal racketeering conspiracy. As Congress itself stated, RICO is a law "[r]elating to the control of *organized crime* in the United States." Pub. L. 91-452, 84 Stat. 922 (emphasis added). It is not a statute relating to controlled substances.

The Ninth Circuit's reasoning in *Lara-Chacon* applies with particularly persuasive force here. At issue in *Lara-Chacon* was a federal immigration statute⁴ that made an alien

⁴ 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(B)(i)

subject to removal if convicted of certain crimes, including violation of a law relating to controlled substances. The petitioner in *Lara-Chacon* had been convicted of violating a state racketeering statute. *Id*.

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