## RECEIVED

### 01-12-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT

Nos. 2013AP1753-CR & 2013AP1754-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROGELIO GUARNERO,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORALBE TIMOTHY DUGAN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARA LYNN LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

basis of the prior plea," but only to assess whether the plea was to the version of the crime in the Massachusetts statute[.]

## Descamps, 133 S. Ct. at 2285 (quoting Shepard, 544 U.S. at 25-26) (emphasis added).

Echoing Descamps, the court of appeals stated in Evans, "When a statute defines an element in the alternative . . . the categorical approach is 'modified' to determine which alternative formed the basis of conviction." 353 Wis. 2d at 298 (citing Descamps, 133 S. Ct. at And in RICO, "racketeering activity" is 2281.expansively defined and sets out many different ways a person can violate the Act. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(A) and § 1961(1)(D); see also Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 481-482 (1985) (RICO "takes aim at 'racketeering activity,' which it defines as any act 'chargeable' under several generically described state criminal laws, any act 'indictable' under numerous specific federal criminal provisions, including mail and wire fraud, and any 'offense' involving bankruptcy or securities fraud or drug-related activities that is 'punishable' under federal law.") (Emphasis added; quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)). Specifically, Section 1962, entitled "Prohibited Activities," outlaws the use of income derived from a "pattern of racketeering activity." 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a). And RICO defines "racketeering activity" in terms of a long list of crimes. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) and (5).<sup>5</sup> Section 1962 of RICO is the proscriptive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For the expansive list of crimes, *see* court of appeals' decision, located in the appendix of Guarnero's Brief at A-Ap. 108-110 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)).

section of the Act, in which four offenses are defined.  $^{\rm 6}$ 

<sup>6</sup> In its entirety, Section 1962 provides:

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person who has received any income derived, directly or indirectly, from a pattern of racketeering activity or through collection of an unlawful debt in which such person has participated as a principal within the meaning of section 2, title 18, United States Code, to use or invest, directly or indirectly, any part of such income, or the proceeds of such income, in acquisition of any interest in, or the establishment or operation of, any enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce. A purchase of securities on the open market for purposes of investment, and without the intention of controlling or participating in the control of the issuer, or of assisting another to do so, shall not be unlawful under this subsection if the securities of the issuer held by the purchaser, the members of his family, and his immediate or their accomplices in any pattern or racketeering activity or the collection of an unlawful debt after such purchase do not amount in the aggregate to one percent of the outstanding securities of any one class, and do not confer, either in law or in fact, the power to elect one or more directors of the issuer.

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person through a pattern of racketeering activity or through collection of an unlawful debt to acquire or maintain, directly or indirectly, any interest in or control of any enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce.

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any (continued on next page)

Applying the *Evans*, *Descamps*, and *Castleman* principles to Guarnero's case, the RICO statutes upon which Guarnero was convicted offense "list∏ potential elements in the alternative." Descamps, 133 S. Ct. at 2283. A violation of 18 U.S.C. 1962(d) can be proved by showing a number of different ways. Therefore, the court of appeals' approach is appropriate. The lower courts were allowed to look at Guarnero's RICO indictment and plea agreement to determine whether his conviction related to controlled substances.

> B. The lower courts could look to see which statutory alternative formed the basis of Guarnero's RICO conviction.

But Guarnero argues that RICO does not create multiple different crimes – that Section 1962(d) creates only a single crime of racketeering conspiracy – and therefore, the modified categorical approach does not apply (Guarnero's Brief at 28). This is not the test. As stated in

> enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity or collection of unlawful debt.

> (d) It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (c) of this section.

18 U.S.C. 1962.

Evans – responding to the defendant's claim that courts cannot consider the "actual conduct" of his prior crime – under the modified categorical approach, this Court could look to the complaint and plea colloquy transcript "to determine which *alternative type* of disorderly conduct formed the basis for Evans' conviction." 353 Wis. 2d 289, ¶18 (emphasis added). And, "[w]hen a statute defines an element in the alternative . . . the categorical approach is "modified" to determine *which alternative formed the basis of conviction.*" *Id.* (emphasis added) (*see Descamps*, 133 S. Ct. at 2281).<sup>7</sup>

In this case, the lower courts were allowed to determine which type of RICO conspiracy formed the basis of Guarnero's conviction. The courts' purpose was "to identify, from among several alternatives, the crime of conviction[.]" Descamps, 133 S. Ct. at 2285. Whether RICO creates only one crime or several crimes is not the Rather, the issue is whether the RICO issue. statute is divisible, and if so, which alternative formed the basis of his conviction. Id. at 2281. See also Decamps, 133 S. Ct. at 2285, providing that courts in *Shepard* could look to the plea agreement "to assess whether the plea was to the version of the crime in the Massachusetts statute[.]" Because RICO sets out one or more elements of a conspiracy offense in the alternative, it is divisible. Therefore, the courts were allowed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As provided in *Descamps*, "the modified approach serves a limited function: It helps effectuate the categorical analysis when a divisible statute, listing potential offense elements in the alternative, renders opaque which element played a part in the defendant's conviction." 133 S.Ct. at 2283.

to see which type of RICO conspiracy formed the basis for Guarnero's conviction.

C.	Guarnero's	RICO
	conviction	was
	predicated	on
	controlled substances.	

Guarnero also argues that the elements of his RICO conviction are broader than that of his Wisconsin conviction for possession of cocaine, and, therefore, the court of appeals could not apply the modified categorical approach (See Guarnero's Brief at 26-27). But Guarnero's RICO conviction specifically *predicated* was on controlled substances, specific to Count II, in which he pled that he conspired to conduct and participate "through a pattern of racketeering activity . . . multiple acts involving the distribution of controlled substances including cocaine, cocaine base in the form of 'crack' cocaine and marijuana in violation of the laws of the United States," and that this violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) (27:Ex. C, Ex. D:19; A-Ap. 149, 163) (emphasis added). See Sedima, 473 U.S. at 496 n.14 (providing that predicate acts are related to each other if they "have the same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated events." (quoting Title X of the Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, 18 U.S.C. § 3575(e)).

The elements provided:

The parties understand an agree that in order sustain the charge of Conspiracy to Commit RICO as set forth in Count Two, the government must prove each of the following propositions beyond a reasonable doubt: <u>First</u>, that the defendant knowingly conspired to conduct or participate in the conduct of the affairs of the Milwaukee Latin Kings, an enterprise, through a pattern of racketeering activity *as described in Count Two*;

<u>Second</u>, that the Milwaukee Latin Kings were an enterprise; and

<u>Third</u>, that the activities of the Milwaukee Latin Kings would affect interstate commerce.

(27:Ex. D:5; A-Ap. 149) (emphasis added).

Conversely, Wisconsin Criminal Pattern Jury Instruction 6030 provides the elements the State must prove to show a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g):

- 1. The defendant possessed a substance;
- 2. The substance was a controlled substance whose possession is prohibited by law;
- 3. The defendant knew or believed that the substance was a controlled substance.

Guarnero's RICO conviction was not more broad than Guarnero's conviction for possession of cocaine under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g), and so Guarnero's argument fails.

Guarnero next argues that RICO does not set forth alternative *elements*, but that RICO sets forth alternative *means* by which a person can violate the statute, and therefore the statute is not divisible (Guarnero's Brief at 29-30). The court of appeals rejected a similar argument in *Evans*, 353 Wis. 2d 289, ¶¶14-15. In *Evans*, the defendant argued that "the different types of conduct listed in the disorderly conduct statute are alternative 'manner[s] and means' of committing the first element of the crime," as opposed o alternative elements. *Id.* ¶14. The court of appeals was "not persuaded:"

The "manner and means" discussions in the cases Evans relies on use that phrase as a reference to the specific conduct a defendant engages in to commit a charged crime. See, e.g., United States v. Calderon-Pena, 383 F.3d 254, 257 n. 4 (5th Cir.2004) (throwing a bottle at a person is not an element, but rather a "manner" of violating the crime of disturbing the peace). Evans points to nothing in these "manner and means" discussions that conflicts with our conclusion that Wisconsin's disorderly conduct statute can have the use of physical force as an element, such as where the "violent" alternative is charged alone or in the conjunctive with other alternatives.

*Id.* ¶15.

Similarly, in this case, the RICO statute has alternative elements, not means. Section 1962 outlaws the use of income derived from a "pattern of racketeering activity." 18 U.S.C. § 1962. And RICO defines "racketeering activity" in terms of a long list of crimes. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) and (5).<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also the court of appeals' decision, in which it lists the activities (A-Ap. 108-10) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)).

D. Application of the modified categorical approach shows that Guarnero's RICO Indictment and Plea Agreement Contain His Involvement the in Distribution of **Controlled Substances.** 

As previously discussed has been throughout his brief, in his plea agreement, Guarnero admitted that, as a member of Latin Kings, he engaged in acts that included the "extortion distribution and of controlled substances" (A-Ap. 161). Count Two also provided that, as a member of Latin Kings, he had "engaged in" the "distribution of controlled substances" (A-Ap. 161). Count 25 of the indictment provided that Guarnero "knowingly and intentionally possessed with the intent to distribute a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled substance" (A-Ap. 142). Count 26 provided that Guarnero "knowingly possessed a firearm in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime, namely, possession of a controlled substance marijuana with the intent to deliver as alleged in County Twenty-Five of this Indictment" (A-Ap. 143). Finally, Guarnero admitted in his plea that Milwaukee police officers found in his residence "four clear plastic sandwich bags containing about an ounce of marijuana each, with a total marijuana weight of an excess of 100 grams" (27:Ex. D:3; A-Ap.147-48).

The application of the modified categorical approach shows that Guarnero's RICO conviction "related to" controlled substances.

E. The court of appeals' application of the modified categorical approach will benefit defendants whose crimes are not related to controlled substances.

Guarnero argues that the court of appeals' adoption of the modified categorical approach will have a confusing effect on lower courts (Guarnero's Brief at 34). This is not the case. The court of appeals' decision was precise:

- If the face of the statute (here, [RICO]) reveals that there is more than one route to conviction, and
- one of those routes satisfies an enhancement prerequisite, then
- a court asked to apply the enhancement may look to see what route the defendant took towards his or her conviction.

(A-Ap. 114; bullets in original). As the court of appeals pointed out, although in Guarnero's case the modified categorical approach allowed the circuit court to convict Guarnero for unlawful possession of cocaine as a second offense,

> the modified categorical approach will benefit other defendants whose acts underlying their convictions did not satisfy the enhancement criteria, as would be the situation if, for example, a defendant potentially subject to the Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) enhancement was charged under [RICO] with having engaged in "racketeering activity" because he or she "traffick[ed] in counterfeit labels for phonorecords, computer programs or

computer program documentation," 18 U.S.C. § 1961(B)[.]

(A-Ap. 114).

The State disagrees that the application of the modified categorical approach would be challenging to the lower courts of Wisconsin.

#### F. There is no Sixth Amendment Violation.

Guarnero also claims that permitting a court to look beyond the statutory elements of his conviction – the plea agreement and indictment – violate his Sixth Amendments rights as articulated in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 490 (2000) (Guarnero's Brief at 466. 18). In Apprendi, the Supreme Court concluded, "Other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." 530 U.S. at 490. It therefore specifically exempted "the fact of a prior conviction" from the factors that must be determined by a jury. *Id.* 

But in State v. LaCount, 2008 WI 59,  $\P52$ , 310 Wis. 2d 85, 750 N.W.2d 780, this Court explained that

[t]he *Shepard* decision relaxed the holdings of both *Apprendi* and *Blakely<sup>9</sup>*, so that, when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296 (2004). In Blakely, the Supreme Court reiterated Shepard's holding and concluded that a trial court judge could not find, for purposes of a sentence enhancement, that a defendant acted with deliberate cruelty. 542 U.S. at 303-04. This finding had to be made by a jury. Id. The Court held that (continued on next page)

Shepard and Apprendi are read together, a trial court judge, rather than a jury, is allowed to determine the applicability of a defendant's prior conviction for sentence enhancement purposes, when the necessary information concerning the prior conviction can be readily determined from an existing judicial record."

Id. (footnote added).

Here, the record contained the relevant information for the trial court: Guarnero's judgment of conviction, as well as his indictment and plea agreement in which he admitted to the elements of his RICO conviction. There is no Sixth Amendment violation.

Furthermore, even if the circuit court had erred on this issue, the error would have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *LaCount*, 310 Wis. 2d. 85, ¶54. The United States Supreme Court recently held that the "[f]ailure to submit a sentencing factor to the jury, like [the] failure to submit an element to the jury, is not structural error." *Id.* (quoting *Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212 (2006)). As a result, a harmless error analysis is applicable if any error occurred. *Id.* And in this case, the information available to the circuit court – the indictment and the plea agreement detailing the acts he admitted to in Count Two that related to controlled substances – eliminates any possibility of error.

the relevant statutory maximum was "not the maximum sentence [that] a judge may impose after finding additional facts, but the maximum [sentence that the judge] may impose *without* any additional findings." *Id* 

III. THE RULE OF LENITY DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THERE IS NO UNCERTAINTY AS TO THE CONDUCT THAT **RICO PROSCRIBES.**

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